

**HOUSE SUBSTITUTE FOR
SENATE BILL NO. 838**

A bill to amend 2001 PA 34, entitled
"Revised municipal finance act,"
by amending section 518 (MCL 141.2518), as amended by 2015 PA 46.

THE PEOPLE OF THE STATE OF MICHIGAN ENACT:

1 Sec. 518. (1) Through December 31, ~~2018,~~ **2023**, in connection
2 with the partial or complete cessation of accruals to a defined
3 benefit plan or the closure of the defined benefit plan to new or
4 existing employees, and the implementation of a defined
5 contribution plan, or to fund costs of a county, city, village, or
6 township that has already ceased accruals to a defined benefit
7 plan, a county, city, village, or township may by ordinance or
8 resolution of its governing body, and without a vote of its
9 electors, issue a municipal security under this section to pay ~~all~~
10 ~~or part of the costs of the unfunded pension liability~~ **AN AMOUNT**

1 NOT TO EXCEED THE DIFFERENCE BETWEEN 95% OF THE ACTUARIAL VALUE OF
2 LIABILITIES AND 100% OF THE ACTUARIAL OR MARKET VALUE OF ASSETS for
3 that retirement program provided that the amount of taxes necessary
4 to pay the principal and interest on that municipal security,
5 together with the taxes levied for the same year, shall not exceed
6 the limit authorized by law.

7 (2) Through December 31, 2018, ~~2023~~, IN CONNECTION WITH THE
8 CLOSURE OF A POSTEMPLOYMENT HEALTH CARE PLAN TO NEW EMPLOYEES, OR
9 TO FUND THE COSTS OF A COUNTY, CITY, VILLAGE, OR TOWNSHIP THAT HAS
10 ALREADY CLOSED ITS POSTEMPLOYMENT HEALTH CARE PLAN TO NEW EMPLOYEES
11 a county, city, village, or township may by ordinance or resolution
12 of its governing body, and without a vote of its electors, issue a
13 municipal security under this section to pay AN AMOUNT NOT TO
14 EXCEED THE DIFFERENCE BETWEEN 60% OF THE ACTUARIAL VALUE OF
15 LIABILITIES AND 100% OF THE ACTUARIAL OR MARKET VALUE OF ASSETS OF
16 the costs of the unfunded accrued health care liability provided
17 that the amount of taxes necessary to pay the principal and
18 interest on that municipal security, together with the taxes levied
19 for the same year, shall not exceed the limit authorized by law or
20 to refund in whole or in part a contract obligation issued for the
21 same purpose. Postemployment health care or benefits may be funded
22 by the county, city, village, or township. The funding of
23 postemployment health care benefits by a county, city, village, or
24 township as provided in this act shall not constitute a contract to
25 pay the postemployment health care benefits.

26 (3) BEFORE A COUNTY, CITY, VILLAGE, OR TOWNSHIP ISSUES A
27 MUNICIPAL SECURITY UNDER THIS SECTION, FOR DEFINED BENEFIT

1 RETIREMENT PLANS OR POSTEMPLOYMENT HEALTH CARE PLANS, WITH 100 OR
2 MORE COMBINED ACTIVE AND RETIRED MEMBERS, WITHIN 1 YEAR PRIOR TO
3 THE ISSUANCE OF THE MUNICIPAL SECURITY, THE COUNTY, CITY, VILLAGE,
4 OR TOWNSHIP SHALL HAVE CONDUCTED AN INTERNAL OR EXTERNAL REVIEW TO
5 VERIFY ELIGIBLE PARTICIPANTS IN THE PLAN AND THAT THEY ARE
6 RECEIVING APPROPRIATE PENSION OR OTHER POSTEMPLOYMENT BENEFITS
7 CONSISTENT WITH THEIR RESPECTIVE PLAN.

8 (4) ~~(3)~~ Before a county, city, village, or township issues a
9 municipal security under this section, the county, city, village,
10 or township shall publish a notice of intent to issue the municipal
11 security. The notice of intent and the rights of referendum shall
12 meet the requirements of section 517(2).

13 (5) ~~(4)~~ Before a county, city, village, or township issues a
14 municipal security under this section, the county, city, village,
15 or township shall prepare and make available to the public a
16 comprehensive financial plan. ~~that includes~~ **THE COMPREHENSIVE**
17 **FINANCIAL PLAN SHALL BE POSTED IN A PROMINENT AND CONSPICUOUS**
18 **LOCATION ON THE COUNTY'S, CITY'S, VILLAGE'S, OR TOWNSHIP'S WEBSITE,**
19 **IF THE COUNTY, CITY, VILLAGE, OR TOWNSHIP MAINTAINS A WEBSITE, AND**
20 **AT THE OFFICE OF THE CLERK NO LATER THAN THE DATE THE NOTICE OF**
21 **INTENT WAS PUBLISHED IN ACCORDANCE WITH SECTION 517(2). THE**
22 **COMPREHENSIVE FINANCIAL PLAN SHALL BE APPROVED BY ORDINANCE OR**
23 **RESOLUTION OF ITS GOVERNING BODY ON OR BEFORE THE NOTICE OF INTENT**
24 **WAS PUBLISHED IN ACCORDANCE WITH SECTION 517(2). THE COMPREHENSIVE**
25 **FINANCIAL PLAN SHALL INCLUDE** all of the following:

26 (a) An analysis of the current and future obligations of the
27 county, city, village, or township with respect to each retirement

1 program and each postemployment health care benefit program of the
2 county, city, village, or township. **THIS ANALYSIS SHALL INCLUDE THE**
3 **RETIREMENT PROGRAM OR POSTEMPLOYMENT HEALTH CARE BENEFIT PROGRAM**
4 **EXPECTED TO BE FUNDED WITH A MUNICIPAL SECURITY ISSUED UNDER THIS**
5 **SECTION AND ALL OTHER RETIREMENT PROGRAMS OR POSTEMPLOYMENT HEALTH**
6 **CARE BENEFIT PROGRAMS NOT BEING FUNDED WITH A MUNICIPAL SECURITY**
7 **ISSUED UNDER THIS SECTION.**

8 (b) Evidence that the issuance of the municipal security
9 together with other funds lawfully available will be sufficient to
10 eliminate the unfunded pension liability or the unfunded accrued
11 health care liability.

12 (c) ~~A debt service amortization schedule and a description of~~
13 ~~actions required to satisfy the debt service amortization~~
14 ~~schedule.~~ **LIMIT CALCULATION THAT SHALL BE IN ACCORDANCE WITH**
15 **STATUTORY, CHARTER, AND CONSTITUTIONAL DEBIT LIMITS.**

16 (D) **THE DEBT SERVICE SCHEDULE FOR A MUNICIPAL SECURITY ISSUED**
17 **UNDER THIS SECTION SHALL NOT MATERIALLY DEVIATE FROM LEVEL OR**
18 **DESCENDING ANNUAL DEBT SERVICE, OR SHALL NOT MATERIALLY DEVIATE**
19 **FROM A LEVEL ANNUAL OR DESCENDING DEBT SERVICE WHEN TAKING INTO**
20 **ACCOUNT OTHER MUNICIPAL SECURITIES OF THE COUNTY, CITY, VILLAGE, OR**
21 **TOWNSHIP UNLESS OTHERWISE APPROVED BY THE DEPARTMENT FOR A PERIOD**
22 **NOT TO EXCEED 5 YEARS FROM THE DATE OF ISSUANCE. THE PROCEEDS FROM**
23 **THE MUNICIPAL SECURITY SHALL NOT FUND CAPITALIZED INTEREST ON THE**
24 **MUNICIPAL SECURITY OR ANY REQUIRED UNFUNDED ACTUARIAL LIABILITY**
25 **PAYMENTS NOT MADE PRIOR TO THE ISSUANCE OF THE MUNICIPAL SECURITY.**

26 (E) **THE PROJECTED NET PRESENT VALUE SAVINGS BETWEEN THE**
27 **ACTUARIALLY DETERMINED AMORTIZATION PAYMENTS AT THE PLAN'S**

1 INVESTMENT RATE OF RETURN AND THE MUNICIPAL SECURITY'S DEBT SERVICE
2 REQUIREMENTS AT THE TIME OF ISSUANCE, CALCULATED USING A METHOD
3 APPROVED BY THE DEPARTMENT, SHALL BE AT LEAST 15% OF THE PAR AMOUNT
4 OF A PROPOSED MUNICIPAL SECURITY ISSUED PURSUANT TO SUBSECTION (1),
5 OR SHALL BE AT LEAST 20% OF THE PAR AMOUNT OF A PROPOSED MUNICIPAL
6 SECURITY ISSUED PURSUANT TO SUBSECTION (2) UNLESS THE DEPARTMENT
7 DETERMINES THAT OTHERWISE THE PLAN IN ITS ENTIRETY IS IN THE
8 FINANCIAL BEST INTEREST OF THE COUNTY, CITY, VILLAGE, OR TOWNSHIP.

9 (F) A COMPARISON OF THE CURRENT INVESTMENT RATE OF RETURN
10 ASSUMPTION OF THE DEFINED BENEFIT PLAN OR POSTEMPLOYMENT HEALTH
11 CARE PLAN AND THE ACTUAL ANNUALIZED INVESTMENT RATES OF RETURNS FOR
12 THE PAST YEAR, 5 YEARS, AND 10 YEARS OF THOSE PLANS.

13 (G) THE FOLLOWING ACKNOWLEDGEMENT: SINCE THE ACTUARIAL VALUE
14 OF THE DEFINED BENEFIT PLAN OR POSTEMPLOYMENT HEALTH CARE PLAN'S
15 ASSETS AND LIABILITIES ARE SUBJECT TO CHANGE, THE COUNTY, CITY,
16 VILLAGE, OR TOWNSHIP ACKNOWLEDGES THAT IT IS POSSIBLE THE UNFUNDED
17 ACCRUED PENSION LIABILITY OR UNFUNDED ACCRUED HEALTH CARE LIABILITY
18 MAY INCREASE AFTER THE ISSUANCE OF THE MUNICIPAL SECURITY, THEREBY
19 REQUIRING THE COUNTY, CITY, VILLAGE, OR TOWNSHIP TO MAKE ADDITIONAL
20 ACTUARIALLY DETERMINED AMORTIZATION PAYMENTS TO THE DEFINED BENEFIT
21 PLAN OR POSTEMPLOYMENT HEALTH CARE PLAN BEYOND THE PRINCIPAL AND
22 INTEREST PAYMENTS DUE ON THE MUNICIPAL SECURITY.

23 (H) A CERTIFICATION THAT THE COUNTY'S, CITY'S, VILLAGE'S, OR
24 TOWNSHIP'S MOST RECENT AUDIT REPORT INDICATES THE SUM OF ALL THE
25 COUNTY'S, CITY'S, VILLAGE'S, OR TOWNSHIP'S DEFINED BENEFIT PLANS'
26 ACTUAL CONTRIBUTIONS FOR THE MOST RECENT 3 FISCAL YEARS ARE 100% OR
27 GREATER THAN THE SUM OF ALL THE COUNTY'S, CITY'S, VILLAGE'S, OR

1 TOWNSHIP'S DEFINED BENEFIT PLANS' ACTUARIALLY DETERMINED
 2 CONTRIBUTIONS FOR THE MOST RECENT 3 FISCAL YEARS. AS USED IN THIS
 3 SUBDIVISION, "ACTUARIALLY DETERMINED CONTRIBUTIONS" MEANS THAT TERM
 4 AS USED IN ACCORDANCE WITH GENERALLY ACCEPTED ACCOUNTING
 5 PRINCIPLES, RULES, OR REGULATIONS.

6 (I) A CERTIFICATION THAT THE COUNTY, CITY, VILLAGE, OR
 7 TOWNSHIP IS COMPLIANT ON ANY REPORTING REQUIREMENTS IN ACCORDANCE
 8 WITH THE PROTECTING LOCAL GOVERNMENT RETIREMENT AND BENEFITS ACT,
 9 2017 PA 202, MCL 38.2801 TO 38.2812.

10 (J) ~~(d)~~—A certification by the person preparing the plan that
 11 the comprehensive financial plan is complete and accurate.

12 (K) ~~(e)~~—If the proceeds of the borrowing are to be deposited
 13 in a health care trust fund, a plan in place from the county, city,
 14 village, or township to mitigate the increase in health care costs
 15 and may include a wellness program that promotes the maintenance or
 16 improvement of healthy behaviors.

17 (6) ~~(5)~~—Municipal securities issued under this section by a
 18 county, city, village, or township and the interest on and income
 19 from the municipal securities are exempt from taxation by this
 20 state or a political subdivision of this state.

21 (7) ~~(6)~~—The proceeds of a municipal security issued under this
 22 section may be used to pay the costs of issuance of the municipal
 23 security. Except for a refunding, the proceeds of a municipal
 24 security issued under this section to cover **UNFUNDED PENSION**
 25 **LIABILITY OR ACCRUED** unfunded health care liability, **OR BOTH**, shall
 26 be deposited in **A PENSION TRUST FUND**, a health care trust fund, a
 27 trust created by ~~the issuer~~ **A COUNTY, CITY, VILLAGE, OR TOWNSHIP**

1 which has as its beneficiary a health care trust fund, **A TRUST**
 2 **CREATED BY A COUNTY, CITY, VILLAGE, OR TOWNSHIP WHICH HAS AS ITS**
 3 **BENEFICIARY A PENSION TRUST FUND**, or, for a county, city, village,
 4 or township, a restricted fund within a trust that would only be
 5 used to retire the municipal securities issued under subsection (1)
 6 or ~~(3)~~. **(2)**. A county, city, village, or township shall have the
 7 power to create a trust to carry out the purposes of this
 8 subsection. ~~The~~ **A** trust created under this subsection shall invest
 9 its funds in the ~~same manner as funds invested by a health care~~
 10 ~~trust fund. The~~ **INVESTMENT INSTRUMENTS AND SUBJECT TO THE**
 11 **INVESTMENT LIMITATIONS GOVERNING THE INVESTMENT OF ASSETS OF PUBLIC**
 12 **EMPLOYEE RETIREMENT SYSTEMS UNDER THE PUBLIC EMPLOYEE RETIREMENT**
 13 **SYSTEM INVESTMENT ACT, 1965 PA 314, MCL 38.1132 TO 38.1141. A** trust
 14 ~~created~~ **OR FUND RECEIVING PROCEEDS OF A MUNICIPAL SECURITY** under
 15 this subsection ~~shall~~ **MUST** comply with all of the following:
 16 (a) Report its financial condition according to generally
 17 accepted accounting principles.
 18 (b) Be tax-exempt under the internal revenue code **OF 1986**.
 19 **(8)** ~~(7)~~ A county, city, village, or township issuing municipal
 20 securities under this section may enter into indentures or other
 21 agreements with trustees and escrow agents for the issuance,
 22 administration, or payment of the municipal securities.
 23 **(9)** ~~(8)~~ Before a county, city, village, or township issues a
 24 municipal security under this section, the county, city, village,
 25 or township shall obtain the approval of the department.
 26 **(10)** ~~(9)~~ If a county, city, village, or township has issued a
 27 municipal security under this section, that county, city, village,

1 or township shall not change the benefit structure of the defined
 2 benefit plan if the defined benefit plan is undergoing the partial
 3 cessation of accruals. However, a county, city, village, or
 4 township may reduce benefits of the defined benefit plan for years
 5 of service that accrue after the issuance of municipal securities
 6 under this section.

7 (11) ~~(10)~~ A county, city, village, or township shall not issue
 8 a municipal security under subsection (1) or (2) unless the county,
 9 city, village, or township has been assigned a credit rating within
 10 the category of ~~AA-A~~ or higher or the equivalent by at least 1
 11 nationally recognized rating agency.

12 (12) ~~(11)~~ A county, city, village, or township that issues a
 13 municipal security under subsection (1) **OR (2)** shall covenant with
 14 the holders of the municipal security and this state that it will
 15 not, after the issuance of the municipal security and while the
 16 municipal security is outstanding, rescind whatever action it has
 17 taken to make a partial or complete cessation of accruals to a
 18 defined benefit plan or the closure of the defined benefit plan **OR**
 19 **POSTEMPLOYMENT HEALTH CARE PLAN** for new or existing employees **FOR**
 20 **WHICH THE MUNICIPAL SECURITY WAS ISSUED.**

21 (13) ~~(12)~~ If a county, city, village, or township has issued a
 22 municipal security under subsection (1) or (2), the county, city,
 23 village, or township may issue a refunding security to refund that
 24 municipal security under this section after December 31, ~~2018~~ **2023**
 25 if that refunding security does not have a final maturity later
 26 than the final maturity of the municipal security being refunded
 27 and if the municipality that issued the municipal security has been

1 assigned a credit rating within the category of ~~AA-A~~ or higher or
2 the equivalent by at least 1 nationally recognized rating agency in
3 connection with the refunding security.

4 (14) UNLESS OTHERWISE APPROVED BY THE DEPARTMENT, A MUNICIPAL
5 SECURITY ISSUED UNDER THIS SECTION SHALL MATURE BY NO LATER THAN
6 THE DATE THE FINAL AMORTIZED PAYMENT FOR THE UNFUNDED PENSION
7 LIABILITY OR THE UNFUNDED ACCRUED HEALTH CARE LIABILITY WOULD HAVE
8 BEEN MADE HAD THE COUNTY, CITY, VILLAGE, OR TOWNSHIP NOT ELECTED TO
9 ISSUE A MUNICIPAL SECURITY UNDER THIS SECTION.